IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: DENNIS JOHN CARVER, DECEASED.

COLONIAL REAL ESTATE PARTNERSHIP, LTD.; AND JOHN HOULIHAN.

Appellants,

VS.

RHONDA MORGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE DENNIS JOHN CARVER,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Oct 12 2021 07:19 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 81447

Eighth Judicial District District Court Case No.: P-18-095892-E

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA HONORABLE TREVOR ATKIN, DISTRICT JUDGE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LEO P. FLANGAS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 5637

FLANGAS LAW FIRM, LTD.

600 South. 3rd Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter as it is an appeal from the District Court's June 23, 2020, order denying Appellants' petition to reopen the decedent's estate. Such order fully resolved all claims between all parties and in favor of Respondent.

Under NRAP 4(a) "a notice of appeal must be filed after entry of a written judgment or order, and no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served." NRAP 4(a). Here, the notice of entry of order was served on the same day as the order, on June 23, 2020. The notice of appeal was timely filed on July 2, 2020, pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

Further, this matter is appealable pursuant to NRS 155.190, which allows for an appeal of any decision when the amount in controversy exceeds (exclusive of costs) \$10,000. *Id.* at § 155.190(n). Here, there is \$121,851.64 in controversy¹, and this appeal is proper.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant respectfully submits that this appeal is appropriate for resolution/decision in the Supreme Court, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12): Cases involving matters of public interest and first impression; and pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(6): cases with over \$75,000 in controversy. Additionally, this matter

¹ ROA000342-343.

contains due process implications. Further, this matter is appealable pursuant to NRS 155.190.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Appellants were in fact known or readily ascertainable creditors that were entitled to written notice from the estate pursuant to NRS 155.020 and *Tulsa Prof'l Collection Servs., Inc. v. Pope*, 485 U.S. 478, 108 S. Ct. 1340 (1988).
- 2. Whether Appellant's due process rights were abridged by Respondent's refusal of Appellants' claim as time-barred when the estate failed to provide the required notice to known creditors pursuant to Nevada Statutes.
- 3. Whether the estate must be reopened to allow appellants' claim as a known, and readily ascertainable creditor that was not given the statutorily required, actual notice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from an order by the Eighth Judicial District Court denying Appellants' Petition for an Order to Show Cause Why Estate Should not be Reopened for Creditors to Submit Proof of Claims and Accounting of the Estate Assets (the "Order").²

_

² ROA000107- 10.

a. Construction Contract Signed

Appellants paid \$121,851.64 to Commercial Plumbing and AC ("Commercial Plumbing"), for repair work on Appellants' real property located in Nevada.³ Commercial Plumbing was a sole proprietorship doing business in California and Nevada. However, the sole owner of Commercial Plumbing, Dennis Carver ("Decedent"), passed away in California before the work was started.⁴ The record shows that Commercial Plumbing's foreman, Robert McKenchnie, knew of the Colonial's debt to Appellants; moreover, Commercial Plumbing's office manager, Jennifer Shea, who was tasked with the wind-up of the estate of Carver and his business also was fully aware of the debt.⁵ After Carver died, Ms. Shea also coordinated the delivery of financial documents to the attorney for the estate and Carver's daughter.⁶ This would have included the financial records for Commercial Plumbing. Thus, it is clear that Colonial was always a known creditor of Commercial Plumbing to the head manager Mr. McKenchnie and Ms. Shea. In light of this, the Estate had actual knowledge of Colonial's debt.⁷ Furthermore, Respondent was

³ ROA000187-188.

⁴ ROA00007.

⁵ ROA000143 (Petitioner's Response to Defendant's Objection to Petition Order to Show Cause Why Estate Should Not Be Reopened for Creditors to Submit Proof of Claims and Accounting of the Estate Assets).

⁶ ROA000144.

⁷ ROA000171-172.

aware of Appellants' claim because such payment was on Commercial Plumbing's books. Bespite this overwhelming proof of actual knowledge of Appellants as a known creditor of Commercial Plumbing, Respondent intentionally failed to provide written notice as required under NRS 155.020.

b. Probate Opened in Carver Estate

Probate was opened in California in December 2017. On June 28, 2018, ancillary probate was opened in Nevada with notice to creditors served by publication July 25, 2018. Appellants learned of Carver's death in September 2018 when they contacted Commercial Plumbing to have the prepaid work on Appellants' property completed. After learning of Decedent's passing, Appellants contacted Respondent to inform her of their claim but did not receive a response until after the deadline to respond to the notice to creditors had expired. Appellants were given no notice of the Nevada filing; Appellants discovered the California filing. Appellants then filed a creditor's claim in the California probate matter on April 12, 2019; however, that claim was rejected. The probate process for the Carver Estate in California has not closed. The estate was closed in Nevada in May 2019. After filing

⁸ *Id*.

⁹ ROA000048.

and voluntarily dismissing a lawsuit against the estate, Appellants filed the petition that is the subject of this appeal.¹⁰

c. Appellants' Petition in Probate Court

Appellants' petition requested that the Nevada estate be reopened to allow their claims—or alternatively—for an evidentiary hearing to be held as to the appropriateness of the closing the estate without an accounting due to the fraud perpetrated by the original administrator in the California estate and the lack of notice in Nevada. The Minute Order issued after the May 14, 2020 hearing on the petition simply stated the "[Petition] is DENIED for legal basis' (sic) outlined in the Estate's Sur-Reply in support of Objection to Petition."

However, the record clearly proves that Respondent intentionally failed to send notice to Appellants.¹³ The original personal representative in California—Nicholas Alfano—who was removed for stealing and/or misappropriating funds from the Estate intentionally failed to give notice to Appellants. Estate administrator Rhonda Morgan—who replaced Alfano—knew there was fraud perpetrated against

¹⁰ ROA000107- 10.

¹¹ ROA000107- 10.

¹² ROA000350.

¹³ ROA000178. Alfano, had actual knowledge that Colonial was a creditor because Ms. Shea was in contact with Alfano on Estate matters until she was fired in the spring of 2018. California Probate Code § 10952 provides that upon the resignation or removal of a Personal Representative, the Personal Representative must provide an accounting within 60 days of their resignation. Ms. Morgan petitioned the California court to order Alfano to provide a full accounting within 60 days of May 29, 2018. ROA000181.

the Estate which resulted in his dismissal in the California probate case. Ms. Morgan alleged that Alfano "paid himself fees by and through A&N Acquisitions in excess of \$50,000 under the A&N Contract for Collection in violation of the probate code prohibition against collecting fees without a court order. She knew that this fraud consisted of an intentional scheme to restrict the number of creditors and their liabilities against the Estate, thus increasing the size and value of the estate for the benefit of a certain heir and Alfano. In fact, she requested that the Court order Alfano to provide an accounting within 60 days of May 29, 2018. Further, Ms. Shea was aware that the Estate owed Colonial Real Estate Partnership money but did not provide any notice to Appellants.

Respondent not only should have known, but they were actually informed by the operational manager of the business:

Jennifer Shea knew that Jack Houlihan of Colonial Real Estate Partnership had paid for work to be performed and that the work had not been performed and Dennis Carver's company, Commercial Plumbing and AC, owed Houlihan and his company Colonial Real Estate Partnership money.¹⁷

¹⁴ ROA000178. See ROA000293, Declaration of Rhonda Morgan, at p. 1, ¶ 7 ("After Alfano began administering the Estate, the heirs believed and alleged that Alfano was mismanaging the Estate, although the full extent of his conversion of estate assets was not known at that time.").

¹⁵ ROA000183 at ¶ 22.

¹⁶ ROA000181 CA Petition for Appointment of Successor, ("These bank statements show withdrawals of cash by the former personal representative in the amount of \$47,045. Petitioner alleges upon information and belief that there is no reasonable explanation for these withdrawals of cash that is related to the administration of the Estate.").

¹⁷ ROA000171-172 (Affidavit of Robert McKenchnie), at ¶ 8.

d. Appellants were known creditors

A review of Commercial Plumbing's financial records would have shown the Appellants were creditors. To reiterate, Appellants paid Decedent's company for work that was never performed—a fact that would be readily ascertainable from the company's records with a showing of \$121,851.64 belonging to Plaintiffs. That alone is sufficient to make Respondent aware that Appellants were creditors and would require Respondent to mail them notice under NRS 155.020.

Additionally, Appellants sent a letter to All Trades Company on September 21, 2018, reminding them about the unfinished work. ¹⁸ After Mr. McKechnie informed Appellants of Carver's death, Appellants contacted Respondent directly but were ignored because Respondent knew the deadline for *unascertained creditors* to file claims was fast approaching. After receiving no response, Appellants sent a letter regarding the claim to Respondent on October 26, 2018. ²⁰ Despite Appellants' contact with relevant individuals, including McKechnie and Respondent, the Estate failed to respond and did not send written notice to Appellants.

-

 $^{^{18}}$ ROA000186. Robert McKechnie of All Trades Company managed operations for Decedent's construction and HVAC companies in Nevada. ROA000171 at \P 4.

¹⁹ ROA000174-176.

²⁰ ROA000193.

Even arguendo Commercial Plumbing's books did not show Appellants as creditors, and even arguendo Appellants had not contacted Respondent directly—at a bare minimum, Respondent was fully aware of Appellants' creditor claim when they filed a claim in Case Number MC1700877 in Riverside County, California, on or about April 12, 2019.²¹

Ms. Morgan filed her petition which requested an order from the Court for Alfano to file an accounting on July 3, 2018.²² On September 19, 2018, a hearing was scheduled on her motion to show cause for Alfano's failure to failure to file final accounting. That hearing was continued until November 6, 2019, when the hearing was finally held. However, in the interim, on October 27, 2018, a day after the 90-day deadline had passed, Colonial sent a second letter to the administrator regarding the agreement between the parties for the installation of the equipment.²³ Also, Plaintiff's counsel contacted Ms. Morgan by letter on November 15, 2018 to inform her of the contract between Colonial Real Estate Partnership and Commercial Plumbing.²⁴ Appellants then filed a creditor's claim in the California probate matter on April 12, 2019; however, that claim was rejected and untimely. The probate process for the Carver Estate in California has not closed, and the estate was closed

²¹ ROA000221 ("04/12/2019 Creditor's Claim from Colonial Real Estate Partnership, Ltd in the amount of \$121,851.64.").

²² ROA000183

²³ ROA000193.

²⁴ ROA000195.

in Nevada in May 2019. Clearly, Appellants' repeated attempts at communicating with Ms. Morgan demonstrate her knowledge of their claim.

Again, Appellants' claim was filed *prior to* the closing of the Nevada estate without an accounting and was timely under the waiver provision of NRS 147.040. Nonetheless, the Estate representative simply told Appellants the claim was untimely—and did not reference the Nevada probate action. Despite such notice, and even though the Estate had over \$120,000 of Appellants' money on its books for work Commercial Plumbing and AC failed to perform, Respondent blatantly and intentionally ignored the claim and failed to send the statutorily and constitutionally required written notice, or even disclose to Appellants the existence of the Nevada probate action.

As stated above, on April 12, 2019, Appellants attempted, in good faith, to assert their claims against Decedent's estate.²⁵ However, that claim was deemed to be untimely. Shortly thereafter in May 2019, the Probate Court granted Respondent's motion to close the Nevada estate without an accounting.²⁶ The Nevada probate matter was an ancillary estate that was concealed – also deliberately

²⁵ Id.

²⁶ ROA000228-232.

– from *this* creditor. The estate was probated in Nevada because the Decedent owned several parcels of real property in this state.²⁷

Despite the fact that Commercial Plumbing operated in Nevada, the record does not indicate that notice was sent to any creditor in Nevada. Instead, the record only shows notice by publication.²⁸ It is utterly preposterous that a business that was an ongoing concern at the time of Decedent's passing would not have known or been able to readily ascertainable its creditors in this state and especially a creditor that had over \$120,000.00 sitting in the business' bank.

Under Nevada law, although the time for *unascertained* creditors had passed, ascertained creditors that did not receive the requisite notice were still permitted to file a claim against the Estate. Here, Respondent clearly knew of Appellants' claim and nonetheless moved to close the Estate, without an accounting in Nevada (or California), and without allowing Appellants the required statutory and constitutional notice.

After Appellants' claims were denied in California Probate Court, Appellants petitioned the Nevada Probate Court to reopen the Decedent's estate or for an

10

²⁷ ROA000199, at ¶ 16. Decedent also operated Commercial Plumbing in Nevada and carried the required contractor's licenses and business infrastructure.

²⁸ ROA000048.

evidentiary hearing as to why the estate closed without an accounting. Appellants' petition was denied.

This is a case where the only result that satisfies constitutional due process requirements is the reopening of the ancillary Nevada estate. In the alternative, the Appellants ask the Court to order an evidentiary hearing as to why closing the Nevada probate matter was proper, given the fact that no notice was sent to any known or reasonably ascertained creditors in Nevada – including the notice required for the motion to close the estate without an accounting. Again, Decedent received \$121,851.64 from Appellants and failed to perform the work he was obligated to do. Moreover, his Estate failed to mail the required notice to a known creditor.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A consolidated timeline is below and will be discussed in detail herein.

| DATE | EVENT |
|------------------|--|
| October 22, 2013 | Agreement signed with Commercial Plumbing and AC ("Commercial Plumbing") to perform work on Appellants' property. ²⁹ Appellants tender check number 3990, a \$10,000 deposit, made pursuant to the agreement. ³⁰ |

²⁹ ROA000187-188.

KOA00016/-166

³⁰ ROA000342-343 (Check Number 3990).

| March 24, 2014 | Appellants paid for the work in advance by check, ³¹ and the parties agreed that work would not start for four years. ³² |
|------------------|--|
| October 16, 2017 | Dennis Carver died in Riverside County, CA. ³³ |
| December 1, 2017 | Petition of Will & Letters of Testamentary: Probate filed in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877. ³⁴ |
| December 5, 2017 | Subsequent Petition for Letters of Special Administration with Limited Authority filed in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877. ³⁵ |
| | Respondent files petition to remove previous administrator, Nicholas Alfano, for defrauding the estate in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877. ³⁶ |
| June 28, 2018 | Decedent's Petition for Probate of Will and Issuance of Letters was filed in Clark County Nevada – Case Number P-18-095892-E. ³⁷ |
| July 3, 2018 | Respondent files Subsequent Petition for Letter of Special Administration with General Powers Appointing Rhonda L. Morgan and Subsequent miscellaneous petition in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877.38 |

³¹ *Id*.

³² ROA000187-188.

³³ ROA00007.

³⁴ ROA000204.

³⁵ *Id*.

³⁶ ROA000178.

³⁷ ROA00001.

³⁸ ROA000204.

| July 6, 2018 | Alfano submits petition to resign as administrator in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877. ³⁹ |
|-------------------|---|
| July 17, 2018 | Respondent is appointed as administrator of the estate in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877. |
| July 25, 2018 | Notice to Creditors filed in Clark County, NV – Case Number P-18-095892-E. Respondent fails to send notice to Appellants as required by NRS 155.020(4) |
| Aug 10, 2018 | Estate receives and files Affidavit of Publication of Notice to Creditors Clark County, NV – Case Number P-18-095892-E. Respondent fails to send notice to Appellants as required by NRS 155.020(4) |
| September 2018 | Appellants discover the Decedent died in October 2017 after contacting Robert McKenchnie to begin work under the prepaid contract. Respondent fails to send notice as required by NRS 155.020(4) |
| October 2018 | Appellants attempt to contact Respondent after learning of Carver's death but do not receive a response. Respondent fails to send notice as required by NRS 155.020(4). ⁴⁰ |
| October 26, 2018 | Appellants send letter to Respondent regarding the claim. Respondent fails to send notice as required by NRS 155.020(4). ⁴¹ |
| November 15, 2018 | Appellants' attorney sends a letter to Respondent regarding the claim. 42 |

³⁹ ROA000217.

⁴⁰ ROA000186.

⁴¹ ROA000193.

⁴² ROA000195.

| April 8, 2019 | Respondent files a Petition for Waiver of Accounting, for Payment of Attorney's Fees, and Petition for Distribution in Clark County, NV Case No. P-18-095892-E. ⁴³ |
|-------------------|---|
| April 12, 2019 | Appellants file a creditor's claim against Respondent and the Decedent's Estate in Riverside County, CA – Case Number MC1700877. ⁴⁴ |
| May 10, 2019 | Order Granting Petition for Waiver of Accounting, for Payment of Attorney's Fees, and Petition for Distribution entered in Nevada probate matter. ⁴⁵ |
| June 7, 2019 | Colonial Real Estate Partnership, LTD., files suit against Decedent, his Estate, Commercial Plumbing, and Respondent, ⁴⁶ but ultimately files for voluntary dismissal. Eighth Judicial District Court Case No.: A-19-796234-C. |
| December 27, 2019 | Respondent files Petition for 14 causes of action against Alfano in Riverside County, CA – Case No. MC1700877. ⁴⁷ |
| February 2, 2020 | Appellants file Petition for an Order to Show Cause Why Estate Should Not be Reopened for Creditors to Submit Proof of Claims and Accounting of the Estate Assets that is the subject of this appeal in Case No. P-18-095892-E. ⁴⁸ |
| February 18, 2020 | Respondent files Objection to Petition. ⁴⁹ |

⁴³ ROA000074.

⁴⁴ ROA000221.

⁴⁵ ROA000093.

⁴⁶ ROA000130.

⁴⁷ ROA000298.

⁴⁸ ROA000107.

⁴⁹ ROA0001.

| March 6, 2020 | Appellants file Response to Defendant's Objection to Petition. ⁵⁰ |
|---------------|---|
| May 8, 2020 | Petitioners Sur-Reply in Support of Objection to Petition. ⁵¹ |
| May 15, 2020 | Probate Court issues Minute Order. ⁵² |
| June 23, 2020 | Order denying Petition for an Order to Show Cause Why Estate Should Not be Reopened for Creditors to Submit Proof of Claims and Accounting of the Estate Assets in Case Number P-18-095892-E. ⁵³ |

On or about October 22, 2013, Appellants entered into an agreement with Commercial Plumbing, which was owned by Decedent, Dennis John Carver, to perform work on the premises owned by Appellants.⁵⁴ It was understood and agreed upon by the parties that Appellants would pay the amount due in advance and that the work would not be performed until at least four years later.⁵⁵ Appellants paid the amount due by check with an initial deposit of \$10,000⁵⁶ and the remaining balance

⁵⁰ ROA000142.

⁵¹ ROA000272.

⁵² ROA000352 ("Petition for Order to Show Cause Why Estate Should not be Re-opened for Creditors to Submit Proof of Claims and Accounting of the Estate Assets is DENIED for legal basis' (sic) outlined in the Estate's Sur-Reply in support of Objection to Petition.").

⁵³ ROA000353.

⁵⁴ ROA000187-188.

⁵⁵ ROA000187-188 ("The Agreement states Colonial will pay the amount of \$121,851.64 minus \$10,000.00 deposit paid by Colonial in 2013 for a total of \$111,851.64").

⁵⁶ *Id*.

of \$111,851.64 on or about March 24, 2014.⁵⁷ However, the work was never performed. In light of the overwhelming evidence, Respondent knew or should have known that Appellants were creditors.

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