IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 81447

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Cla**Flectronically Filed**District Court Case No. P-18-095892-E**Nov 30 2021 06:06** p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF DENNIS JOHN CARVER, DECEASED

COLONIAL REAL ESTATE PARTNERSHIP, LTD.; AND JOHN HOULIHAN

Appellants,

VS.

RHONDA MORGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF DENNIS JOHN CARVER

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

David T. Blake, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11059
CLEAR COUNSEL LAW GROUP
1671 W. Horizon Ridge Pkwy., Suite 200
Henderson, NV 89012
Telephone: (702) 476-5900
Facsimile: (702) 924-0709

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

- (1) To administer newly discovered property,
- (2) To correct errors in property descriptions,
- (3) For any purpose requiring new letters to be issue.

NRS 151.240(1).

This statute provides an independent reason to affirm the Probate Court's decision in addition to the timing issues discussed above. Tellingly, Colonial does not cite to or address the statute. The omission is fatal to Colonial's appeal. To reopen the Estate, Colonial must identify some statute or other authority authorizing the requested action. Colonial's failure to address this key issue creates an easy decision to affirm the Probate Court decision. In the proceedings below, Colonial did not identify newly discovered property, identify errors in property descriptions, or request that new letters be issued. On appeal, Colonial does not identify any of these situations.

⁶ This fact is easily demonstrated by the title of Colonial's Petition. Colonials seeks to (1) reopen the Estate, (2) file a creditor's claim, and (3) receive an accounting of Estate assets. The requested relief does not fit within any of the categories in NRS 151.240.

Colonial's Petition to reopen the Estate was not authorized by statute and the Probate Court correctly interpreted and enforced the probate statute. This court should affirm that decision on this basis.

III. This Court should affirm and reject Colonial's due process arguments because (a) Nevada's nonclaim statute does not violate due process and (b) Colonial was not denied due process because it had actual knowledge Estate's administration and failed to act.

As a hail-Mary effort to salvage its claim against the Estate, Colonial argues that its due process rights have been violated. It should be noted that Colonial's framing of the issue as a lack of notice is not accurate. Colonial did not receive mailed notice, but this is not a case where the creditor did not have actual notice of the Estate administration. As demonstrated at length above, Colonial knew the Estate was being administered, knew who was administering the Nevada Estate, hired local counsel, filed a lawsuit against the Estate, and took other actions other than filing a creditor's claim. In short, Colonials' lack-of-notice-due-process-violation argument falls flat because Colonial had actual notice of the Estate administration.

Setting aside this fact, Colonial's due process analysis is nonetheless flawed. Colonial relies primarily on <u>Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Moseley</u>, in support of its due process argument. ⁷ 100 Nev. 337, 338 (1984). Colonial's reliance on <u>Moseley</u> and other due process cases is misplaced.

⁷ Colonial also cites to <u>Tulsa Professional Collection Services v. Pope</u>, 485 U.S. 478 (1988), but <u>Pope</u> in inapplicable for the same reasons, discussed below, that <u>Moseley</u> is inapplicable.

A. Moseley does not apply to Colonial because the creditor in Moseley did not have knowledge of the estate administration whereas Colonial had actual notice of the administration and did not take appropriate action until more than 490 days later.

The first and most critical reason that Colonial cannot rely on Moseley is that the same facts that protected the Moseley creditor do not exist here. The creditor in Moseley was a known creditor that did not have notice of the estate administration until the last day of the creditors period. See Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Moseley, 98 Nev. 476, 477, 653 P.2d 158, 159 (1982). The estate administrator served notice of the administration by publication only. After the creditor received notice, it acted promptly, filing the claim two days after the claims period ended (3 days after receiving notice of the death). See id. The estate argued that, though the timing was unfortunate, the creditor was given at least constructive notice by publication and that the creditor's claim was barred by the statute. The only issue on appeal before the Nevada Supreme Court was whether notice by publication was enough to bar the creditor's claim. Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Moseley, 100 Nev. 337, 338 (1984). The court held that the known creditor who had no knowledge of the estate administration was entitled to more than notice by publication. <u>Id.</u> In ruling in favor of the creditor, Moseley protected a known creditor that did not have actual notice of the estate

⁸ The Moseley case reached the Nevada Supreme Court twice: once in 1982 and again in 1984 after remand from the U. S. Supreme Court. The underlying facts are specifically detailed in the 1982 <u>Moseley</u> decision, but not the 1984 decision. The citation to the 1982 decision is: <u>Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Moseley</u>, 98 Nev. 476 (1982). The 1984 decision is <u>Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Moseley</u>, 100 Nev. 337, 338 (1984).

administration and who acted promptly. On the other hand, the ruling in <u>Moseley</u> did not create a loophole to be exploited by creditors that have actual notice of the estate and who delay filing a creditor's claim.

Here, Colonial stands in direct contrast to that of the creditor in Moseley. The creditor in Moseley (1) was readily ascertainable, (2) did not have actual notice of the Estate administration, (3) received notice of the estate administration through service by publication only, and (4) acted promptly after receiving notice. Colonial admits that it (1) received notice of the Estate administration in September of 2018, (2) sent letters to the Estate for the purpose of resolving its claims while the Nevada Estate was being administered instead of filing a creditor's claim (See Reply at 3:23-4:4:22-5:12, Reply Ex. 2 ¶ 11-19), (3) did not file a creditor's claim against the Estate prior to the close of the Estate, (4) filed a late creditor's claim against the California Estate on April 12, 2019, (5) did not file a claim in the Nevada Estate proceeding, and (6) made no attempt to file a creditor's claim in the Nevada Estate until February 2, 2020, which is more than 490 days after Colonial is charged with knowledge of the Estate administration.

The ruling in Moseley is wholly inapplicable here. Due process requires notice and an opportunity to present a defense. Colonial had knowledge of the Estate administration in Nevada and the opportunity to follow the correct procedure.

Colonial cannot blame its incorrect action on a lack of notice or the conduct of the

Estate. The Illinois Court of Appeals has held that an estate administrator does not deprive due process by failing to serve notice to a known creditor if the known creditor has actual notice of estate administration. See Matter of Estate of Sutherland, 593 N.E.2d 955, 960 (1992). The court indicated "petitioner's failure to timely file is not the result of insufficiency of actual notice; it is the result of failure to timely act on the notice received." See id. (internal citations and quotations omitted). Here, under the same logic, the Court cannot conclude that Colonial was deprived of due process under Moseley.

B. Moseley is not applicable because the nonclaim statute there is substantively different from the statute here, and other courts have held that nonclaim statutes like Nevada's statute were constitutional.

The nonclaim statute at issue in Moseley was NRS 145.050, which has since been repealed. As this statute existed in 1982, the only form of notice required was publication. See Moseley, 98 Nev. at 477. After publication, creditors had to file a claim within 60 days or be barred forever—no exceptions. The nonclaim statute here is different and requires more than just publication of notice. NRS 155.020 requires mailing of notice to reasonably ascertainable creditors and, for all other creditors, notice by publication. Additionally, the statute contains a procedural safeguard found in NRS 147.040(3). Any creditor who did not (a) receive notice under NRS 155.020 or (b) have actual notice of the administration of the estate, can file a claim "at any time before the filing of a final account." These additional protections for known creditors

and creditors that may not have received actual notice of the estate administration remedy the constitutional deficiency in <u>Moseley</u>. Colonial makes no argument that these additional protections are constitutionally deficient.⁹ The substantive difference between the challenged statutes compels a different result.

C. The United States Supreme Court's <u>Pope</u> decision does not change the result.

Colonial also indirectly relies on the United State Supreme Court decision Tulsa Prof'l Collection Servs., Inc. v. Pope, 485 U.S. 478 (1988) in its due process argument. The Pope decision does not change the result in this case because, like Moseley, the statute in question required notice to creditors by publication only. See 485 U.S. at 479. The issue of whether the creditor had actual notice was neither addressed nor resolved. And, in fact, the Pope court cited to Nevada's nonclaim statute as a good (i.e., non-due-process-violating) example. See id. at 490. This court has never relied on or cited Pope as questioning Nevada's nonclaim statute.

The California Court of Appeals rejected an argument very similar to the argument that Colonial raises in this case, i.e., that California's creditor's notice statute violated due process under <u>Tulsa Professional Collection Services v. Pope</u>, 485 U.S. 478 (1988). <u>See Interinsurance Exch. v. Narula</u>, 39 Cal. Rptr. 2d 752, 756 (1995).

⁹ These additional due process protections highlight Colonial's failure to act despite its knowledge of the Estate's administration. If Colonial had filed its motion or sought to file a creditor's claim in the Nevada Case when it first became aware of Decedent's death, Colonial's rights are more likely to have been preserved.

California's probate nonclaim statute is like Nevada's in requiring estate representatives to notice known creditors and publish notice. See id. The statute also permits creditors without knowledge of the estate administration to file late claims in certain circumstances. See id. The California Court noted that California had revised its probate statutes in response to the ruling in Pope and created numerous procedural protections for creditors that did not have actual notice of the estate administration.

Id. The Court ruled that the statute as applied to the creditor was constitutional.

Additionally, <u>Pope</u> does not stand for the proposition that a creditor can sit on its rights and do nothing. <u>Pope</u> was primarily concerned with providing actual notice to potential creditors. Where it is undisputed here that Colonial had actual notice, then the constitutional concerns addressed in <u>Pope</u> are moot.

The Court should follow the California Court of Appeals and rule that Nevada's nonclaim statute did not deprive Colonial of due process rights. NRS 145.050 has been repealed in its entirety. Nevada's probate statutes were substantively amended since the Moseley decision and are constitutional, as confirmed in Pope. After these amendments, Nevada's probate notice statutory scheme is vastly different from the statute that was held unconstitutional in Moseley and the statute at issue in Pope, where the only form of required notice was by publication.

The Probate Court correctly recognized that Colonial was not deprived of due process and its Order should be affirmed.

IV. The Probate Court was correct in denying Colonial and evidentiary hearing on Colonial's wholly speculative, nonspecific, and unsupported fraud-on-the-court allegations.

Colonial's also raises the flawed and unsupported argument that it is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to address its allegation that Estate administrator Morgan failed to disclose relevant facts in the Nevada case. Colonial's contentions on this point should be rejected for various reasons.

First, Colonial fails to present a plausible fraud argument. Colonial's entire argument appears to be that because the former administrator in California, Alfano, engaged in misconduct in California, he must have also done so in Nevada. See Opening Brief at 35. The clear error in this logic is that Colonial does not allege, even on information and belief, that Alfano's misconduct affected any Nevada assets. Colonial's exaggerated assertions of "clandestine and surreptitious maneuvering" (Opening Brief 35) is simple mudslinging.

Second, Colonial's argument that it is entitled to an evidentiary hearing is different from the argument before the Probate Court. As noted, Colonial asserts (without support) on appeal that Alfano's fraud must have touched Nevada assets and that a hearing should be held. However, colonial argued to the Probate Court that it was Morgan who committed fraud on the court by failing to disclose Alfano's fraud in Nevada. See 1 ROA 163-164. This Court will not consider an argument raised for the first time on appeal. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52 (1981). The Court

it should decline to consider Colonial's new guilt-by-association argument that Alfano's misconduct affected Nevada assets.

The third flaw in Colonial's argument is that Alfano's misconduct should be and is being litigated and resolved by the California probate court. Colonial has presented no evidence that Alfano's misconduct affected Nevada's assets. It has not alleged that Alfano's misconduct affected Nevada's assets. Morgan is not aware of any Nevada assets other than the real estate assets, which were appropriately administered here. 2 ROA 294 ¶¶ 17-20. Alfano was not appointed administrator by any Nevada court. There is evidentiary basis or reason for the Probate Court to address these issues. Colonial does not cite to any authority that would suggest the Probate Court would have the duty or the ability resolve any known issues related to Alfano's conduct. The issue, as alleged by Colonial, is totally outside the jurisdiction of the Probate Court.

Fourth, the Probate Court correctly rejected Colonial's allegation that Morgan committed fraud on the court by failing to disclose Alfano's misconduct in the Nevada Case. Fraud is "a knowing misrepresentation or knowing concealment of a *material* fact made to induce another to act to his or her detriment. See Black's Law Dictionary, Fraud (11th ed. 2019) (emphasis added). The Nevada Supreme Court defines fraud on the court as:

that species of fraud which does, or attempts to, subvert the integrity of the court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases ... and relief should be denied in the absence of such conduct.

NC-DSH, Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. 647, 654 (2009). To prove fraud on the court, Colonial would have to prove (1) misrepresentation of (2) a material fact (3) intended to induce reliance and (4) that the misrepresentation prevented judicial machinery from performing in a usual manner. See id. Colonial did not cite to or argue these elements before the Probate Court (1 ROA 63-64).

Fifth, and finally, reopening the Estate to address Colonial's meritless fraud allegations is not permitted under Nevada's probate statutes. NRS 151.240(1) allows the Court to reopen an estate for one of only three purposes:

- (4) To administer newly discovered property,
- (5) To correct errors in property descriptions,
- (6) For any purpose requiring new letters to be issue.

NRS 151.240(1). Colonial does not identify newly discovered property, identify errors in property descriptions, or request that new letters be issued. Thus, the request is not authorized by statute and should be rejected.

Accordingly, Colonial's request for an evidentiary hearing is unsupported and meritless. The Probate Court's decision on this point should be affirmed.

V. Colonial's argument that the Estate was never actually closed because certain conditions or contingencies were not satisfied is raised for the first time on appeal and should be rejected.

Colonial's final argument is that its creditor's claim¹⁰ should be deemed timely because Morgan did not comply with certain conditions of closing the Estate and the Estate, therefore, remains open. Opening Brief at 36. Specifically, Colonial cites to the language in the order stating that Morgan will be discharged from responsibilities "on the filing of appropriate receipts" and that Morgan has not filed these unspecified receipts.

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